

AALBORG UNIVERSITET

From Integration to Sovereignty: The Evolution of Robert Fico's Discourse on the European Union

Master's Thesis: Global Refugee Studies

Sebastián Ondreják

February 12, 2025

Supervisor: Danny Raymond

Number of characters: 103 186

Abstract

This thesis examines the evolution of Robert Fico's discourse on the European Union between 2014 and 2024, focusing on how his rhetoric has shifted from pro-European integration to a more Eurosceptic and sovereignty-centered stance. During this period, Slovakia's political landscape has been shaped by significant events, including the refugee crisis, domestic political turmoil, and increasing geopolitical tensions within the EU.

Incorporating evidence from interview and speech this study demonstrates how Fico's language and discourse have evolved to reflect broader regional and international shifts. It argues that his discourse has moved from portraying EU membership as Slovakia's "only viable path" to framing the EU as a challenge to national sovereignty. These concerns are particularly evident in his increasing emphasis on regional alliances, his use of securitization to justify policy decisions, and his strategic reframing of Slovakia's role within the EU.

Keywords: Robert Fico, European Union, Discourse Analysis, Shift in Discourse,

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Literature review	2
Eurosceptic discourse	2
Populism and nationalism	3
Methodology and Theoretical Framework	5
Critical Discourse Analysis	5
Copenhagen School of Securitization	8
Research design	10
Limitations	11
Analysis	11
Events between 2006 and 2014	12
Economic Transition and Euro Adoption	12
Rise of Populism and Shifts in Political Landscape	13
Global Financial Crisis	15
Interview with Robert Fico in 2014	16
Discursive practice	16
A Successful story	17
Major events between 2014 and 2024	26
Refugee Crisis	26
Assassination of investigative journalist	27
Fico's stance on Ukraine and pro-Russian discourse post-election	27
Speech by Robert Fico in 2024	29
Discursive practice	29
From integration to opposition	30
The shift in the discourse	37
Discussion	39
Conclusion	40
Pafarancas	/13

Introduction

Since Slovakia's accession to the European Union in 2004, its political landscape has undergone significant transformations. Initially perceived as a success story of European integration, Slovakia benefited from economic growth, financial stability, and increased political influence within the EU framework. However, over the past two decades, Slovakia's political discourse regarding the EU has evolved, often reflecting deeper ideological and strategic shifts within its leadership.

At the center of this transformation stands Robert Fico, a dominant figure in Slovak politics and the leader of the social-democratic party Smer-SD. As a four-time prime minister, Fico has played a crucial role in shaping Slovakia's European policy, navigating between pro-European pragmatism and Eurosceptic rhetoric. In this thesis, we will examine two different datasets to analyze how Robert Fico has shifted from a pro-European politician in 2014 to a more Eurosceptic politician in 2024. Therefore, the research question guiding our thesis is as follows:

How has Robert Fico's discourse about the European Union shifted between 2014 and 2024?

Understanding how political rhetoric changes over time is crucial in explaining broader shifts in national and international politics. Political leaders, through discourse, shape public perceptions, justify policy decisions, and redefine national identities. This study aims to critically examine the transformation in Robert Fico's rhetoric between 2014 and 2024, contextualizing it within broader regional and global developments.

The contemporary political climate in Slovakia has been further shaped by ongoing anti-government protests against Fico's administration. Recent demonstrations, fueled by his pro-Russian stance and controversial visit to Moscow in December 2024, highlight a growing divide within the country. Protesters, chanting "Slovakia is not Russia, Slovakia is Europe," have expressed concerns over Fico's suggestions that Slovakia reconsider its commitments to the EU and NATO (AP News, 2024). These events underscore the importance of analyzing his shifting rhetoric, as they reflect broader tensions in Slovakia's political identity and foreign policy direction.

Literature review

This literature review examines the key theoretical frameworks and contextual factors relevant to analyzing Robert Fico's political discourse. It explores how concepts such as Euroscepticism, populism, and securitization have influenced political narratives in Slovakia and the broader European context. These ideologies, which have transitioned from fringe to mainstream, play a critical role in shaping leaders' discourse including Fico's strategic positioning on issues like European integration and national sovereignty.

Eurosceptic discourse

Discourse has a role in shaping political narratives, policy-making, and national identity, and the attention given to this topic has increased in contemporary political science. Schmidt and Radaelli (2004) present a framework of discursive institutionalism and emphasize that discourse is not merely seen as a reflection of interests and institutions but as an active driver capable of reconceptualizing interests, reshaping institutions, and reframing cultural norms. This approach is particularly useful for analyzing political speech, as language not only conveys ideas but also engages with the audience. Through this interaction, political rhetoric influences both policy decisions and how the public perceives key issues, shaping opinions and responses over time.

The term Euroscepticism has been discussed and analyzed in both academic and public discourse to understand its origins, evolution, and implications. Jakša's (2023) work presents the normalization of Euroscepticism within mainstream politics. He argues that the rise of Eurosceptic parties, as seen in the UK's Brexit vote and in France, Italy, and the Visegrad Four, illustrates how Euroscepticism has transitioned from fringe movements to significant political forces capable of shaping EU policies and narratives. He highlights the link between Euroscepticism and security concerns. Euroscepticism not only mirrors existing insecurities but also intensifies them across individual, societal, and institutional levels. For example, the economic crisis in Greece showed how Eurosceptic views can increase feelings of uncertainty, weaken trust in institutions, and lead to social unrest. International actors, such as Russia, have often exploited these dynamics by supporting Eurosceptic movements to destabilize EU cohesion and policymaking, further linking Euroscepticism with geopolitical strategies (Jakša, 2023)

This contextualizes Fico's political rhetoric as part of wider regional and European trends, in which Euroscepticism is utilized to reduce social anxieties, criticize EU policies, and demand national sovereignty. Fico's discourse can be understood as part of a broader trend in which politicians manage the conflict between projecting a pro-European image and reacting to domestic concerns, which are frequently accompanied by Eurosceptic narratives.

Matthijs Rooduijn and Stijn van Kessel (2019) explore the relationship between Euroscepticism and populism, specifically how radical right parties often combine populist rhetoric with Eurosceptic views. They describe the EU as a danger to national sovereignty as well as to cultural identity. On the other hand, radical left parties adopt Eurosceptic positions to critique the EU's neoliberal policies, arguing that these policies deepen economic inequality and social differences. This critique allows these parties to resonate with voters who are skeptical about political elites and see the EU as undemocratic and disconnected from national priorities. Additionally, Rooduijn and van Kessel (2019) stress that the overlap between populism and Euroscepticism has profoundly affected European politics. This fusion has disrupted traditional party structures, granting parties more influence and reshaping political debates at both national and EU levels. These ideologies appeal to public dissatisfaction with existing power dynamics and economic frustrations, enabling them to mobilize a diverse voter base.

Their examination of the relationship between populism and Euroscepticism helps to clarify how Fico's rhetoric challenges established political norms. Fico redefines Slovakia's political discussions by blending pro-European and Eurosceptic aspects, portraying himself as a leader who addresses popular problems while promoting the benefits of EU membership. The connection that Rooduijn and van Kessel mention between populism and Euroscepticism is also visible in Fico's discourse and actions within the internal politics of Slovakia. Therefore, to examine this more closely, we will look at the populist discourse in Slovakia in the next chapter.

Populism and nationalism

Robert Fico's political path, along with that of his party Smer-SD, is closely linked to the rise of populism and increasing polarization in Slovak politics. Spáč's (2012) analysis provides an important basis for understanding how Fico has used populist rhetoric to gain significant

influence in Slovakia's political landscape. Spáč points out that Smer-SD's populist discourse played a key role in its initial success, as it portrayed the party as a leader of ordinary people against corrupt elites. Fico's political appeal is strongly connected to Slovak identity, often positioning his party as the defender of "real Slovaks" against external pressures.

Antal (2023) elaborates on this and argues that Fico's populism has evolved following the 2015 refugee crisis in Europe. Initially, his party adopted a generally pro-European stance, albeit with some criticism. However, Fico shifted to a strongly Eurosceptic position, accusing the EU of dictating refugee policies to Slovakia. His rhetoric depicted refugees as serious threats to Slovak culture and security, fueling public fears of foreign threats to cultural identity and the economy. While framed within a left-wing populist narrative, Fico's discourse also incorporates strong nationalist elements, particularly regarding Slovakia's relationship with the EU and the migrant crisis. This dual strategy enabled him to resonate with working-class voters concerned about economic fairness, as well as nationalist groups focused on safeguarding Slovak identity and sovereignty.

Marušiak's (2021) research also elaborates on Fico's transformative process. He highlights how Fico capitalized on national identity and cultural conservatism to align with the growing antiliberal and Eurosceptic trends in Central Europe. While Smer-SD began as a pragmatic and centrist-populist party, it gradually shifted toward a nationalist and culturally conservative platform, particularly after 2015. Fico's strategic framing of Slovakia's position vis-à-vis the EU reflected a selective engagement with Europeanization, promoting economic benefits while rejecting cultural and normative integration. At the same time, Fico frequently criticized EU sanctions on Russia, arguing that these measures harmed Slovakia's economic interests. His rhetoric portrayed Slovakia as a potential bridge between East and West, emphasizing pragmatic relations with Russia while questioning the EU's strategic direction.

These studies provide a solid foundation for understanding Robert Fico's discourse. Spáč (2012) highlights how Smer-SD's populist rhetoric initially positioned the party as a defender of "ordinary people" against corrupt elites. Antal (2023) identifies the 2015 refugee crisis as a turning point, marking Fico's shift from a pro-European stance to stronger Euroscepticism and nationalism. Our research contributes to this discussion by examining specific rhetorical shifts through Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA). Specifically, we will focus on the differences in his

discourse between 2014 and 2024. With the application of the theory of securitization, we will examine topics such as nationalism, populism, and his shift in discourse toward the European Union.

Methodology and Theoretical Framework

In the following chapter, we will introduce the theoretical and methodological framework in our thesis. It focuses on Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA) as the primary analytical approach, together with securitization theory, as developed by the Copenhagen School, which will complement the analysis by exploring how discourse constructs security threats and legitimizes political actions. Together, these approaches provide a comprehensive lens for understanding the evolution of Robert Fico's rhetoric on the European Union between 2014 and 2024. Finally, the research design and methodological choices will be presented, detailing how these theories will be applied to the selected texts together with the limitations of our thesis.

Critical Discourse Analysis

Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA) offers a set of theories and methodologies for empirical research, emphasizing the role of discourse in reflecting, reinforcing, and shaping social power, inequality, and dominance across various spheres of society. In this thesis, we will employ Norman Fairclough's CDA framework alongside securitization theory to explore how language constructs new realities and influences Robert Fico's rhetoric.

Fairclough's approach to CDA is primarily text-centered but also examines the connection between text and societal and cultural processes. It takes an interdisciplinary approach, combining textual and social analyses. Discourse, in his view, is both "constitutive and constituted," meaning that it plays a role in creating social realities and structures (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002). This means that discourse has the power to change, create, and transform social realities, and at the same time, discourse does not exist in a vacuum but is shaped by existing practices, structures, or norms. This shows how discourse and society are interconnected: while discourse shapes society, society also shapes discourse.

Fairclough defines discourse in three keyways:

- 1. Discourse as language use in social practice This perspective sees language not just as a communication tool but as a force that both shapes and is shaped by society. It emphasizes the role of language in constructing social realities, demonstrating how our language influences and is influenced by social practices and structures.
- 2. Discourse as the type of language used in specific fields Here, discourse refers to the specialized language used in particular contexts, such as political discourse.
- 3. Discourse as a particular way of speaking This refers to the specific forms of language used to convey particular viewpoints or worldviews (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002).

To guide analysis, Fairclough proposes a three-dimensional model, which suggests that communicative events consist of three interconnected dimensions: text, discursive practice, and social practice. Texts can be either written or oral, with oral texts being purely spoken, such as in radio broadcasts, or a combination of spoken and visual elements, as seen in television. Discursive practice looks at how texts are created using existing ideas and how audiences interpret them based on their knowledge. This dimension links the text to social practice. The social practice dimension looks at how texts contribute to either the reinforcement or transformation of broader societal structures, particularly in terms of power and dominance (Rear, 2013).

Wording plays a significant role in Fairclough's approach. Fairclough suggests that the act of selecting words is an intentional and dynamic process, where specific terms are chosen to describe a concept or experience, thereby shaping how it is perceived by others. These linguistic choices reflect the speaker's perspective and have the potential to influence the interpretation and understanding of ideas or events (Fairclough, 1992). For example, referring to the media as the "mainstream media" versus "elite propaganda" shapes whether it is seen as a neutral source or a manipulative entity serving the elite.

Fairclough also draws attention to the concept of "meaning potential," where words acquire a range of meanings based on their usage across contexts. This potential is shaped by social and cultural contestation, making it essential to explore how meanings shift within different discursive practices. For instance, Fico's shift from pro-European rhetoric in earlier years to a more Eastern-oriented narrative reflects the evolution of wording and its alignment with changing political contexts (Fairclough, 1992). This is particularly important when analyzing shifts in

political discourse and explaining how these changes were shaped by broader social and cultural contexts. For example, highlighting how Robert Fico presented the EU in 2014 as "a prosperous ally" or "the only viable path for Slovakia," while in 2024 these words are replaced by "sovereignty" or "the need for balance between East and West."

Metaphors, like words, frame how we conceptualize abstract ideas. They help us understand complex phenomena by linking them to more familiar, tangible experiences. In doing so, metaphors shape the way we perceive, interpret, and engage with various issues, influencing our understanding of reality and framing how we think about social or political topics (Fairclough, 1992).

Another important aspect of CDA is intertextuality and interdiscursivity. Intertextuality is the idea that all communication is influenced by and draws upon previous communication. This means that whenever we communicate, we are using words, ideas, or structures that others have used before. It shows how texts are interconnected, forming a "chain" of references and influences from past to present. This places texts in historical and social contexts, demonstrating how communication reflects and contributes to societal development (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002).

Interdiscursivity is a form of intertextuality and refers to the combination or articulation of different discourses and genres within a single communicative event. For example, a political speech may integrate elements of economic, cultural, and legal discourses to construct its message (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002). Fairclough argues that "intertextuality and interdiscursivity can contribute either to the reproduction or the challenging of the established status quo" (Rear, 2013, p. 21).

When discourses are used in traditional or expected ways, they tend to uphold the existing framework of communication and power relationships, often referred to as the dominant discourse. This approach helps maintain societal norms and structures, reinforcing established hierarchies, practices, and belief systems without disruption. However, when discourses are combined in novel or unconventional ways, they can create new or hybrid forms of communication. These innovative blends of different discursive elements can disrupt the dominant discourse by challenging prevailing power structures or ideologies, potentially driving change in societal or organizational systems (Rear, 2013).

Copenhagen School of Securitization

The Copenhagen School is closely tied to the establishment of the Copenhagen Peace Research Institute (COPRI), which was founded in 1985. This institute primarily addressed issues related to peace and security within a transforming global context and became associated with prominent figures like Barry Buzan and Ole Wæver, who are considered key contributors to the school's development. Through their works, they offered innovative perspectives on security and its broader environment. The term "Copenhagen School" originated from Bill McSweeney, a prominent critic of this approach, who coined it in his critique of the school's theories and concepts (McSweeney, 1996).

Emerging during the post-Cold War era, the Copenhagen School contributed to ongoing debates in security studies regarding the discipline's future trajectory. Traditionalists adhered to classical frameworks, while others advocated for a broader and more inclusive scope, with the Copenhagen School aligning with the latter. This approach expanded the focus of security studies beyond the state to include individuals and the international community. Additionally, it moved beyond a predominantly military-focused view by introducing four other sectors of security: political, societal, economic, and environmental (Buzan & Hansen, 2009).

Since the 1990s, securitization has become a key concept in security studies, questioning traditional approaches grounded in military and realist perspectives. In recent years, the theory and the Copenhagen School have gained growing importance among scholars focused on expanding the scope of security.

"The securitisation framework aligns with the constructivist approach, committing to the discursive and linguistic turn in International Relations and security studies. It builds upon the notion that 'language is not only concerned with what is 'out there,' as realists and neorealists assume, but is also constitutive of the social reality it describes'" (Stepka, 2022).

Securitization theory redefines security as a construct that includes the performative dynamics of speech and discourse, in addition to material threats. The idea defines securitization as the process of portraying a problem as an existential threat that must be addressed with extraordinary

measures. Once something is framed as an existential threat, it is then viewed as so urgent that extraordinary measures are seen as necessary to address it.

At the core of this process is the idea of the "speech act," in which expressing a threat alters its standing in political and social discourse. For example, when a leader declares that something is a "threat to national security," this act of naming it as a threat can change its status within political and social discourse. In this way, speech acts do not just describe reality; they help create and define it. This means that language actively creates reality rather than just describing it, transforming difficulties into perceived dangers through public articulation (Stritzel, 2007).

This idea is based on John L. Austin's concept of performative utterances, which holds that language does more than just carry information; it also causes change in the world. For example, by describing something as a danger, a leader might create the impression that extreme measures are required, even if the threat is not actual. In this approach, securitization emphasizes how speech impacts political reality, with the ability to turn a problem into a security threat requiring a quick response (Stritzel, 2007).

The Copenhagen School identifies three core components essential to the securitization process:

- 1. Speech Act: The articulation that frames an issue as a security threat.
- 2. Securitizing Actor: The individual or entity performing the securitization.
- 3. Audience: The group or community whose acceptance of the securitizing narrative determines its success (Stritzel, 2007).

The process of securitization occurs when an actor effectively portrays an existential threat as both urgent and a top priority, thereby circumventing established rules and norms. When this framing is accepted and supported by the audience, securitization can be successful. However, it is important to emphasize that the securitizing actor's efforts alone do not ensure success. The validation depends on the audience's acceptance of the actor's narrative. In this dynamic, the securitizing actor holds a primary role due to their societal influence and standing. Their authority allows them to construct and declare a particular issue as a threat, making the threat credible and recognized through the act of public declaration (Dulebová & Štefančík, 2017).

The nature of the threat being securitized is also crucial, as it can either support or hinder the process. Equally important are the rhetorical strategies used by the actor, such as emotionally charged language, repeated metaphors, exaggeration, and the use of colloquial or non-standard expressions (Dulebová & Štefančík, 2017).

Research design

Research question: How has Robert Fico's discourse about the European Union shifted between 2014 and 2024?

In this thesis, we will explore how Robert Fico's rhetoric regarding the European Union has evolved over the past decade. By examining this research question, we aim to understand how Fico's discourse toward the European Union has changed from 2014 to 2024, reflecting shifts in his political positioning. This investigation will provide insights into how Fico's use of language reflects and influences political and social realities, particularly in the context of Slovakia's evolving role within the European Union.

To explore the research question in depth, we will use both Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA) and Securitization Theory. Both share a foundational understanding of the constitutive power of language in shaping social and political realities. The synthesis of CDA and Securitization Theory provides a framework to analyze Fico's rhetoric at both textual and societal levels, with a particular emphasis on identifying and explaining these discursive changes.

Both approaches share a focus on the power of language to construct realities. CDA explores the linguistic and structural components of Fico's rhetoric, while Securitization Theory highlights how this rhetoric functions to construct perceived security threats.

In this thesis, the textual analysis includes Robert Fico's interview in 2014 and his speech in 2024. The discursive practice dimension examines how Fico's rhetoric regarding the European Union is produced, distributed, and consumed within Slovakia's media and political landscape during these two periods. Finally, the social practice component will be covered before the analysis of each speech, focusing on Fico's first period in government, starting in 2006, when Slovakia entered the Eurozone, as well as the developments between 2014 and 2024. This will provide a more concrete context for the analysis and the changes that occurred during these years.

For data to be analyzed, we will examine two distinct speeches delivered at two separate points in time, both marking anniversaries of Slovakia's membership in the European Union. The first dataset consists of an interview featuring Robert Fico and Mikuláš Dzurinda on Slovak National Television, commemorating the 10th anniversary of Slovakia's accession to the EU. The second dataset is a speech delivered by Robert Fico in 2024, during the celebrations of the 20th anniversary of Slovakia's EU membership. These two media sources will serve as the main datasets for analysis.

First, the analysis will focus on the semiotic dimensions of the discourse, examining elements that construct meaning within each speech. At the same time, it will situate these speeches within their respective political and social contexts, exploring how the surrounding circumstances influenced the discourse and how the speeches, in turn, reflected or responded to those contexts.

Limitations

It is important to acknowledge multiple limitations within our study. First, in our study we use two key primary datasets, Fico's 2014 interview and his 2024 speech. These sources were selected due to their significance in marking Slovakia's EU membership milestones, but they do not encompass the full extent of Fico's discourse over the decade. Other forms of communication, such as parliamentary debates, social media statements, and interviews with international media would provide additional context.

This thesis is also limited by the absence of audience reception analysis. While the study examines the content, structure, and ideological implications of Fico's discourse, it does not cover how different segments of the Slovak public, political elites, European institutions or other international actors have responded to these shifts.

Another limitation relates to the geopolitical and contextual factors influencing Fico's discourse. While the analysis incorporates major political events to a certain level, due to the lack of time, the amount of context is limited.

Analysis

In this analytical section, we will examine two key datasets: Robert Fico's 2014 interview and his 2024 speech. Using Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA) and the framework of securitization, we will explore how Fico's rhetoric has changed over time. The analysis will center on his portrayal of the European Union in 2014, a decade after Slovakia's accession, and the significant shifts in his discourse evident ten years later in 2024.

To structure the analysis, this chapter will be divided into two sections, each dedicated to one of the speeches under study. For each speech, the analysis will begin by contextualizing the circumstances and setting in which the speech was delivered and presenting the key elements and events that occurred during the periods from 2006 to 2014 and from 2014 to 2024 for the second speech. Following the discursive practice for each speech, the focus will shift to a detailed examination of the textual elements. Finally, the chapter will conclude with an analysis of the changes in Fico's discourse between 2014 and 2024.

Events between 2006 and 2014

To provide a comprehensive context, the following chapter will explore the key events and developments in Slovakia and the European Union between 2006 and 2014. This eight-year period encompasses Robert Fico's first tenure as prime minister, leading his political party, Direction – Social Democrats (Smer–SD), from 2006 to 2010. After losing the 2010 election, a coalition government was formed, but it ultimately collapsed, triggering early elections in 2012. In those elections, Fico made a striking political comeback, securing an overwhelming 44.41% of the vote, which allowed Smer–SD to form Slovakia's first single-party government since the country gained independence (Robert Schuman Foundation, 2012).

Particular attention will be given to how these events influenced Fico's political discourse and strategies, setting the stage for a detailed discourse analysis of the 2014 interview in subsequent sections. This context will help shed light on the factors contributing to Fico's discourse and its broader implications for Slovakia's position in the European political arena.

Economic Transition and Euro Adoption

One of the most important elements of Fico's first term was Slovakia's entry into the Eurozone and the transition from the Slovak crown to the euro. Discussions about joining the Eurozone began shortly after Slovakia became a member of the European Union, and the country officially adopted the euro in 2009.

For many Slovaks and politicians, adopting the euro was seen as a natural progression toward deeper European integration. Historically, Slovakia had been a minority within larger entities like the Austro-Hungarian Empire and later Czechoslovakia. After gaining independence in 1993, joining a union where Slovakia could stand as an equal alongside wealthier European countries represented a significant opportunity. The scholarly and intellectual community also largely supported the adoption of the new currency, viewing it as a pathway to enhanced financial stability and economic prosperity (Dandashly & Verdun, 2015).

Following its adoption, the euro brought Slovakia numerous benefits. The influx of foreign investments and entrepreneurship was facilitated, as the euro was a much more stable currency compared to the Slovak crown. Additionally, the euro removed currency risk in dealings with major trade partners within the Eurozone. Previously, fluctuations in the Slovak koruna exchange rate could create uncertainty, complicating financial planning and budgeting. All of this increased trade and investment flows, resulting in economic growth. For citizens, it involved converting savings and prices to the new currency and adapting to the use of new banknotes and coins. Despite initial concerns, the euro quickly became an integral part of everyday life in Slovakia (Vpeniaze.sk, 2009).

"I am convinced that the introduction of the euro is an unparalleled historical achievement for the Slovak Republic, and I am very proud that the adoption of the euro will be primarily associated with the government of the Slovak Republic, of which I am the prime minister," said Fico during his speech at a conference dedicated to the first year of the euro in Slovakia, organized by the Representation of the European Commission in Slovakia in cooperation with the National Bank of Slovakia.

Rise of Populism and Shifts in Political Landscape

While Slovakia's entry into the Eurozone was shaped by both foreign policy considerations and national political dynamics, the focus now shifts more specifically to internal politics under

Robert Fico's leadership. During his first term, Fico marked a departure from the previous neoliberal reforms. He strongly criticized the policies implemented by his predecessor, Mikuláš Dzurinda, and instead advocated for a more socially focused state that emphasized social cohesion. He positioned himself as an opponent of neoliberal elites. Key targets of his criticism included the flat tax system and extensive privatization, which he portrayed as socially inequitable. These policies, according to Fico, led to public dissatisfaction, particularly among vulnerable groups (Bertelsmann Stiftung, 2012).

As a response, Fico's government introduced state-oriented policies in critical sectors like healthcare and energy and reinforced these policies with legislative changes, such as a ban on private health insurers distributing profits to shareholders or amendments to the Highway Act, which allowed for land expropriation. His administration tightly controlled energy prices and restricted the influence of foreign energy companies, framing these measures as a defense of Slovak interests against external exploitation. At the same time, Fico prioritized high-visibility welfare measures, such as Christmas bonuses for pensioners and allowances for childbirth. While these measures were symbolic, they significantly boosted Fico's popularity (Bertelsmann Stiftung, 2012).

Fico's politics were also intertwined with populist rhetoric and corruption. Besides the laws that targeted specific populations, there were several controversial laws introduced as well. In 2008, Fico enacted a controversial Press Act, which granted politicians an automatic "right of reply" in the media as a means to suppress critical reporting. The act introduced a degree of censorship, as media outlets and journalists faced legal repercussions and financial penalties for critical reporting. The act faced significant criticism, both internationally and domestically. Besides that, Fico and other government members frequently attacked certain media outlets verbally, accusing them of bias and undermining their credibility (Bertelsmann Stiftung, 2012).

This act also contributed to the rise of national populism, combining traditional populist appeals with strong ethnic and nationalist undertones. Slovak populist leaders often reinterpreted national history to emphasize the country's struggle for sovereignty and independence. Historical narratives were frequently mythologized to promote a sense of national pride and solidarity. In his discourse, Fico introduced the term "Old Slovaks", referencing King Svatopluk, who ruled over the Great Moravian Empire, claiming that while Slovakia had a great history, other states

had nothing. His efforts to mythologize certain historical figures also served as a tool to attack journalists who criticized his government, portraying them as unpatriotic or anti-Slovak (Mesežnikov & Gyárfášová, 2008).

Corruption had deep historical roots in Slovakia long before Fico's first government. However, rather than tackling the issue effectively, Fico's administration allowed it to persist and even exacerbated the problem. Public procurement became synonymous with corruption under Fico's leadership. Contracts were often awarded to politically connected companies, undermining transparency and fairness. Corruption extended into the judiciary, where judges were accused of accepting bribes and engaging in case manipulation. The failure to address major corruption cases effectively further highlighted systemic weaknesses. Scandals such as the emissions quota case were inadequately investigated or abandoned altogether, reflecting a lack of political will to hold powerful individuals accountable.

Public trust in democratic institutions eroded significantly, with surveys indicating that only 29% of Slovaks trusted the judiciary, making it one of the least credible institutions in the country (Bertelsmann Stiftung, 2012). Corruption also weakened governance, undermining the rule of law and democratic accountability. On the international stage, repeated scandals damaged Slovakia's reputation, discouraging foreign investment and raising concerns within the European Union about the country's commitment to transparency and rule-of-law standards (ibid.).

Global Financial Crisis

As highlighted in the previous chapter, during his first term, Fico strongly emphasized the strategic importance of adopting the euro, a topic particularly important in the context of the 2008 global financial crisis. Slovakia's transition from the Slovak koruna to the euro on January 1, 2009, was portrayed by Fico as a crucial move to safeguard the nation's economy during turbulent times (SME.sk, 2008).

The euro adoption was promoted as a key measure to bolster Slovakia's economic stability amid the global downturn. He argued that joining the Eurozone would help Slovakia avoid the severe economic shocks that non-Eurozone EU countries experienced. "Turmoil on global financial markets magnified the positive effects of adopting the single European currency," Fico stated in

an interview (Reuters, 2008). According to him, the euro provided economic resilience by eliminating exchange rate volatility and increasing investor confidence (ibid.).

Furthermore, the Prime Minister noted that the financial crisis underscored the benefits of euro adoption and suggested that the move was even more advantageous than previously anticipated. "Today we perceive the introduction of the euro as even more beneficial than we saw it a few months ago," he remarked (ibid.). His government framed the transition as a strategic economic decision rather than merely a symbolic step toward European integration (Pravda.sk, 2008).

Economic analysts have pointed out that Slovakia's entry into the Eurozone in January 2009 contributed to its financial stability. The adoption of the euro resulted in a relatively fast recovery from the global financial crisis, especially compared to some neighboring countries. Additionally, being part of the Eurozone provided Slovakia with access to European financial mechanisms that mitigated the crisis's economic effects (BRIDGE Network, 2021).

Interview with Robert Fico in 2014

The interview with Robert Fico in 2014 offers insight into Slovakia's evolving relationship with the European Union. Marking a decade since the country's accession, the dialogue unfolds against a backdrop of both celebration and critical reflection. At this juncture, Slovakia had been transformed by its integration into the EU, grappling with the dual forces of national identity and broader European unity. This conversation provides a valuable opportunity to explore the interplay between political leadership, public perception, and Slovakia's strategic positioning within the EU. As Fico articulates his vision for the country's future in an increasingly interconnected Europe, the discussion also raises pressing questions about sovereignty, economic adaptation, and the broader trajectory of European integration.

Discursive practice

This interview took place on May 1st, marking the 10th anniversary of Slovakia's official accession to the European Union as well as Labor Day. The discussion featured two prominent political figures: Robert Fico, who was serving as the Prime Minister of Slovakia at the time and

had also been Prime Minister when Slovakia entered the Eurozone, and Mikuláš Dzurinda, a former Prime Minister who had been in office during Slovakia's entry into the EU.

The purpose of the interview was to reflect on the decade since Slovakia joined the EU, analyzing the changes the country experienced—both positive and negative—and assessing the impact of EU membership on Slovakia's development. Topics of discussion included economic growth, social transformations, and the political implications of being part of the EU. The interview was broadcast on Jednotka, a generalist channel operated by Slovak Television and Radio (RTVS). The program offered viewers an opportunity to engage with critical perspectives on Slovakia's integration into the European Union and its evolving relationship with the bloc over the past decade.

The discussion was moderated by Branislav Dobšinský, a well-known Slovak journalist. The interview took place in the iconic Slovak Radio building, a significant venue symbolizing the nation's commitment to public discourse and information dissemination. The setting of the room was both formal and symbolic, emphasizing the occasion's importance. Three European Union flags were prominently displayed, underscoring Slovakia's membership in the EU as the central theme of the discussion. A round table was positioned at the center of the room, fostering an atmosphere of equality and open dialogue among the three participants.

A Successful story

The conversation began with an opening question addressed to both participants: "What has been the story of Slovakia over the past ten years?"

Fico begins the discussion by wishing every Slovak citizen a happy Labor Day, strategically using this opening to establish a personal connection with the audience. By acknowledging the dual significance of the day, as both a public holiday and the anniversary of Slovakia's EU accession, Fico frames himself as a leader who follows national traditions and unity, reinforcing his image as a relatable and inclusive figure. This opening sets a tone of connection with the audience, acknowledging the significance of May 1st as both a public holiday and the anniversary of Slovakia's accession to the European Union (RTVS, 2014, 1:03).

Moving to the moderator's question, Fico reflects on the topic by suggesting that the historical and political nuances of Slovakia's past ten years in the EU are best analyzed by political scientists and historians. "I would leave the events that happened 10 years ago to historians and political scientists... 10 years of Slovakia in the EU, an extraordinarily successful story." However, as an active politician, he briefly shares his perspective, characterizing Slovakia's membership in the EU as a "success story" (RTVS, 2014, 1:28). He then points out Slovakia's remarkable achievements within the EU, claiming that it stands out as the member state that has benefited the most among the countries that joined the Union during the 2004 enlargement (RTVS, 2014, 1:50).

As mentioned in our methodology, CDA highlights how discourse constructs social and political identities. From this brief introduction, it is evident that Robert Fico positions himself as a politician who prioritizes the present and its challenges over delving into historical retrospectives. Rather than engaging in a detailed examination of past events, he directs attention to the contemporary realities of Slovakia's membership in the European Union. His emphasis reflects a forward-looking approach, aimed at addressing the current benefits and opportunities derived from EU integration. However, in his previous speeches and public appearances, he frequently invoked historical events to emphasize Slovakia's strength as a nation. In contrast, he now moves away from discussing the past. While he often used certain historical moments as a source of pride for Slovakia, he now focuses instead on showcasing Slovakia's current successes under his leadership and projecting a bright future for the country.

The moderator then poses a question to Fico, asking whether the European Union is progressing in the right direction, referencing challenges such as the Eurozone crisis and the Banking Union. In response, Fico asserts unequivocally that Slovakia's only viable path is continued membership in the EU, emphasizing the importance of being at the core of its integration efforts. He highlights that Eurozone countries are likely to strengthen their cooperation and coordination, and that countries choosing not to be part of the cooperation will be pushed away. Given Slovakia's reliance on Eurozone markets, he argues that it is in the nation's vital interest to actively participate in these integration processes. "It must be our vital interest to be part of the integration processes that exist here and that we cannot stop or significantly influence." (RTVS, 2014, 4:23).

His response clearly positions Slovak participation in the EU as the only option, highlighting the benefits of cooperation and integration. The linguistic focus of CDA explains their implications, and here, he aligns Slovakia's national interests with the larger trajectory of European cooperation, presenting EU membership as indispensable to the country's economic and political future. In his response, he strictly advises that deeper integration is a "vital interest," which shows his assertiveness on this topic.

Fico remarks that the 2008 economic crisis brought significant changes to the European Union, attributing the EU's image at the time to the effects of the crisis. He notes that developments within the EU's internal structures, particularly the establishment of the Banking Union or Eurobonds, would not have occurred without the crisis. Based on this perspective, he expresses confidence that the direction the EU is taking is effective. "We can discuss the direction of the European Union, but I believe it is the only way to survive. The decisions that have been made, for example, to protect the euro and coordinate budgetary and economic policies, are the right ones." (RTVS, 2014, 6:01).

He argues that these changes are essential for the EU to remain competitive on a global scale. As the leader of a strongly pro-European government, he emphasizes his belief that by continuing on this path, Slovakia can achieve substantial benefits and progress (RTVS, 2014, 6:31).

With this statement, Robert Fico demonstrates strong confidence in the European Union and the direction it has taken and highlights its effectiveness in proposing and implementing solutions. By using the metaphor "only way to survive," Fico frames EU directives as a matter of national interest and the only viable path. In other words, pursuing an alternative course of action or attempting to integrate in a different direction could have had profoundly negative consequences for Slovakia. This discourse positions Slovakia as a proactive member state aligning itself with the EU's trajectory of overcoming challenges and solidifying its global competitiveness.

He conveys approval not only of the solutions themselves but also of the broader strategic vision that underpins them. He frames these measures as necessary steps toward ensuring the EU's stability and competitiveness on a global scale. Fico expresses no apprehension about the partial loss of national sovereignty associated with Slovakia's involvement in the Banking Union. He frames it as an essential trade-off for greater collective security and prosperity. His argument

underscores that such changes are not merely acceptable but are crucial for safeguarding Slovakia's well-being and economic interests.

These arguments tie into Fico's broader narrative of EU membership as the "only viable path" for Slovakia, as expressed in other parts of his discourse. It reflects a consistent effort to portray the EU as a stabilizing force and a source of opportunity, framing Slovakia's future as linked to the Union's trajectory.

In his responses, Fico also briefly expresses his appreciation to the other guests, as well as to all political parties, including the opposition. He acknowledges that despite differing values, there is a shared commitment to a pro-European stance in foreign policy. This consensus contributes to stability within Slovakia and its institutions in the eyes of both citizens and the international audience (RTVS, 2014, 7:40)

With this statement, Fico appeals to the entire nation, extending beyond his own supporters while expressing gratitude and respect for opposing political parties. This approach positions him as a leader who is cooperative, respectful, and focused on the broader national interest.

He emphasizes that a pro-European outlook is not solely his personal stance but reflects the collective will of the Slovak people. He projects an image of national unity and shared purpose that transcends political divides, presenting Slovakia as a stable and cohesive country on the international stage.

Following the interview, the moderator asks Fico for his perspective on the future structure of the European Union, questioning whether it might evolve into a centralized "superstate" or move in the opposite direction toward fragmentation and a smaller EU. Fico speculates that the key issue is whether member states can balance preserving their national interests while remaining pro-European and demonstrating a commitment to cooperation. He then poses the question of whether the Schengen Agreement compromised Slovakia's sovereignty, answering himself by affirming that it did but highlighting that no one complains because its benefits are clear and shared by all. He applies the same reasoning to the adoption of the euro.

"Schengen was an intervention in state sovereignty, and does anyone complain today when crossing the border from Slovakia to Poland, Austria, or Hungary? The same can be said about

the euro. Changing the currency is a certain intervention into the sovereignty of the state... and does anyone complain that we adopted the euro?" (RTVS, 2014, 13:36).

However, he firmly establishes a boundary, asserting that there are fundamental issues in which member states must retain full decision-making authority and that the EU should not interfere in these matters. He uses budget policy as an example, emphasizing that while coordination and the exchange of experiences are acceptable, directives imposed by Brussels are not (RTVS, 2014, 14:20).

Fico strikes a balance between supporting European integration and defending national sovereignty in his response. He acknowledges that agreements like the Schengen Agreement and euro adoption "compromised Slovakia's sovereignty," but he frames these as calculated trade-offs with "clear benefits" that enhance security and prosperity. By admitting that sovereignty is "compromised" through Schengen and the euro, Fico implicitly securitizes these decisions, framing them as calculated risks that deliver greater collective security and economic stability. He emphasizes the "clear benefits" as evidence that these compromises are justified and necessary.

At the same time, Fico delineates limits to EU influence, asserting that certain fundamental issues must remain under the exclusive authority of member states. This establishment of boundaries reflects a firm commitment to safeguarding Slovakia's sovereignty in critical areas, even as the country remains a committed member of the EU. It shows both a defense of national decision-making and a reassurance to his audience that Slovakia retains control over its core interests within the EU framework.

In response to a question posed by the moderator to another guest about the concept of a two-speed European Union, Fico offers his perspective. He notes that there are instances when Eurozone countries hold discussions, and non-Eurozone countries attempt to participate, which is occasionally met with resistance from larger Eurozone nations. Fico speculates that stricter rules may emerge, driven by "more disciplined states," with increasing pressure to enforce compliance. He suggests that countries following these rules will benefit significantly greater benefits from cooperation and integration compared to those that do not. "I feel the dynamism in the development of the European Union, but at the same time, I believe that Slovakia will be able to protect its interests within this dynamism, of course, also in cooperation with regional groups like

the V4." (RTVS, 2014, 18:41) He also highlights the importance of the Visegrad Four (V4) alliance, emphasizing that as a united bloc, it holds considerably more influence than Slovakia could achieve on its own. "Before the European Council, there are meetings of the V4 prime ministers where we coordinate our positions, and then one of us stands up and says that we speak on behalf of 60 million people, which carries a different weight." (RTVS, 2014, 19:50)

Fico predicts the imposition of additional rules within the European Union and implicitly signals Slovakia's willingness to adhere to these regulations to secure greater benefits. He reiterates that the EU remains a vital partner for Slovakia, emphasizing a proactive commitment to shared values and collective objectives as part of a unified framework. his narrative securitizes compliance by framing adherence to EU rules as essential for safeguarding Slovakia's national security and economic prosperity. By presenting compliance as critical to avoiding marginalization, Fico positions EU alignment not merely as a pragmatic choice but as a fundamental strategy to ensure stability and long-term development in a globalized context. He implies that noncompliance could result in exclusion and constructs a clear dichotomy: inclusion ensures progress and prosperity, while exclusion risks diminished influence and economic setbacks. Furthermore, Fico underscores the strategic importance of the Visegrad Four alliance as a means of safeguarding against marginalization within the EU. While Slovakia, as a smaller state, has limited influence on its own, the combined strength of the V4 nations, representing a population of 60 million, positions Slovakia on significantly firmer ground, raising its chances to influence EU policies and decisions. This framing prioritizes regional cooperation, portraying the V4 as a strategic tool to mitigate Slovakia's smaller geopolitical stature. Fico constructs regional unity as essential for Slovakia's stability and relevance within the broader EU framework.

The moderator then presents statistics indicating that Slovakia's national economy has grown more slowly compared to other EU countries over the past decade, adding that citizens are increasingly dissatisfied. Fico responds by acknowledging that people tend to assess their situation subjectively, as everyone aspires to better living standards. However, he points out that public discourse is dominated by negativity and bad news, creating a distorted narrative. "An atmosphere of only negative news and negative information is being created... but is it not true that if we compare salaries from 2004 and 2014, there has been a 70% increase? That's simply what the statistics show, but when someone states this publicly, people start laughing because no

one wants to tell people that life in Slovakia isn't easy, yet no one acknowledges that EU membership has been a tremendous success." (RTVS, 2014, 21:42).

While statistics confirm this as fact, he notes that when stated publicly, it is often met with disbelief or laughter. Fico argues that people are reluctant to acknowledge the challenges of life in Slovakia alongside the substantial benefits of EU membership. He highlights that 80% of all public investments in Slovakia are funded by the EU, highlighting the positive impact of membership. Fico urges for a more balanced and optimistic outlook, lamenting the lack of accessible information about these benefits. "It's a shame that we cannot provide Slovakia with the full truth about how things really are with the European Union, because then someone on television says that we contribute more to the budget than we receive, and no one counters that statement." (RTVS, 2014, 22:10).

He criticizes misinformation, such as claims that Slovakia contributes more to EU funds than it receives, which often go unchallenged. He clarifies that from 2014 to 2020, Slovakia will €20 billion from the EU, resulting in a net benefit of approximately €15 billion. (RTVS, 2014, 22:58)

Fico expresses his concern about the dominance of negative narratives and misinformation in public discourse, framing them as misleading. It reflects an attempt to frame the public discourse in a way that emphasizes media as biased. CDA examines how political figures use language to securitize certain issues, presenting them as existential threats that require immediate intervention. Fico is blaming the media or other political actors for focusing on Slovakia's challenges and overlooking its successes. This serves to discredit the prevailing discourse and redirect attention to more favorable aspects of the nation's situation. This redirection shifts focus from economic performance alone to the broader issue of how information shapes public perception. At the same time, he shares a personal anecdote about disbelief in income growth and backing it up with concrete figures, with which Fico strengthens his argument, making it both relatable and credible. Fico briefly acknowledges the difficulties faced by the people of Slovakia. This admission humanizes his argument and prevents it from sounding overly dismissive of people's struggles. However, he frames this acknowledgment as something that is often avoided, suggesting that political discourse selectively ignores challenges while focusing only on negative aspects.

He repeatedly emphasizes the benefits of EU membership to ensure the audience internalizes his message. What is more, Fico frames the negativity in public discourse and the spread of misinformation as a threat to the public's understanding of Slovakia's economic progress and its relationship with the European Union. He constructs these threats as significant enough to jeopardize national cohesion and trust in EU membership, thus warranting immediate attention.

The moderator then shifts to a more pointed question, reminding the audience that Fico was actively involved in the discussions when Slovakia adopted the euro. The moderator asks whether the exchange rate at the time was too strong, potentially causing Slovaks to lose money. In response, Fico defends the decision, asserting that the exchange rate established was a success. "The exchange rate that was negotiated was a success at the time, because when we look at the parameters after the euro was introduced, Slovakia adopted the euro very smoothly. We are often used as an example of a very effective mechanism, so I would consider the exchange rate to have been well-set and I stand by it." (RTVS, 2014, 28:13). Referring to charts and data, he emphasizes that the parameters indicate a smooth transition to the euro, firmly standing by his actions and decisions during that period (RTVS, 2014, 29:18).

The moderator's question about the exchange rate touches on broader economic debates surrounding Slovakia's adoption of the euro and its long-term implications. As outlined in our methodology, CDA helps uncover how political figures construct legitimacy, frame historical narratives, and manage criticism through discourse. In his response, Fico places these concerns within a historical context with data to cover his response, drawing on empirical evidence to create a connection between past policy decisions and present economic stability. By doing so, Fico effectively dismisses any doubts that might cast him as a decision-maker who made a mistake in any angle, portraying himself instead as a responsible leader who made the right choices. He reframes the question, which suggests the exchange rate may have been flawed or harmful from certain perspectives, by shifting the focus to its overall benefits. This approach emphasizes the positive outcomes while sidestepping any potential discussion of the drawbacks.

The moderator follows up with a question referencing Germany, where the adoption of the euro reportedly made life more expensive. Fico uses this opportunity to reassure Slovakians, asserting that the Euro crisis is behind them. "The euro crisis is behind us. In the end, it wasn't really a crisis of the euro—it was a crisis caused by irresponsible countries and their approach to financial

discipline. The euro is a good project, and Slovakia belongs in the Eurozone." (RTVS, 2014, 30:48). Fico reiterates his belief in the euro as a successful project and expresses pride in Slovakia's membership in the Eurozone. Once again, he dismisses any doubts, reassuring Slovaks that the EU is the only viable path forward. He emphasizes that greater integration and fiscal discipline will yield even more benefits, promising to safeguard Slovakia's interests. Fico again brings up the importance of the Visegrad Four alliance, highlighting its role in enhancing Slovakia's credibility and influence on the European stage (RTVS, 2014, 30:48).

Fico's response to the moderator's question reflects a deliberate discourse strategy aimed at reframing the narrative around the "Euro crisis." By asserting, "It wasn't really a crisis of the euro, it was a crisis caused by irresponsible countries and their approach to financial discipline," he shifts the blame away from the structural viability of the euro to the financial mismanagement of individual member states. This reframing achieves two objectives, one he reinforces euro currency position as a stable and credible currency, vital for Slovakia's economic identity and second, Fico implicitly aligns Slovakia with the "responsible" states, contrasting it with the "irresponsible" ones.

Moderator than following the interview ask question about European funds and how effective are we in drawdown of Eurofonds. Fico expresses that these funds are irreplaceable for Slovakia. However, "Discussions are ongoing between us and the European Commission about how to spend these funds most effectively. The European Commission is pushing us to spend money on so-called soft measures, such as retraining and training programs... however, the European Commission does not like that we want to spend money on building critical infrastructure... we must find a balance between what the European Commission demands and our interests." (RTVS, 2014, 38:32).

Fico's rhetoric reflects a broader discourse on the balance between national sovereignty and compliance with EU directives. He is emphasizing the need for balance, which situates him and Slovakia as a cooperative yet independent actor within the EU.

The response also constructs a national identity rooted in pragmatism and self-determination. Fico emphasizes the importance of infrastructure over "soft measures," such as retraining programs, to portray Slovakia's development needs as unique and distinct from EU priorities. The

contrast between "critical infrastructure" and "soft measures" creates a discourse where tangible, visible projects are prioritized as essential for Slovakia's long-term stability and growth.

At the end of the conversation, Fico emphasizes the importance of participating in the European Parliament elections, urging citizens to vote and with a wish of peaceful rest of the day. (RTVS, 2014, 47:28).

Major events between 2014 and 2024

To provide a comprehensive context, similar to the previous chapter, the following section will examine the key political events and developments in Slovakia and the European Union between 2014 and 2024, focusing on Robert Fico's evolving political career. This decade marks his return to power in 2012 and his eventual resignation as prime minister in 2018 amid widespread protests and political turmoil. Despite this setback, Fico remained a central figure in Slovak politics, influencing national discourse and the strategic direction of his party, Smer–SD. His political resurgence culminated in the 2023 parliamentary elections, where he secured a return to the premiership, once again reshaping Slovakia's domestic and foreign policy.

Refugee Crisis

As previously noted, Robert Fico began his second term as prime minister following the early elections in 2012, succeeding Iveta Radičová. He remained a strong proponent of deeper EU integration until the 2015 refugee crisis when he sharply opposed mandatory quotas for refugee relocation. He argued that migrants from the Middle East posed a threat not only to Slovakia's security but also to its Christian identity. Fico stated "Uncontrolled migration brings the risk of an influx of people with different interests. This influx may also be associated with the arrival of individuals who may have very dangerous interests and are connected to various terrorist organizations." (Tódová, 2015). He also emphasized that Slovakia would only accept Christian migrants, expressing concerns about the integration of Muslims due to the absence of mosques in the country (Terece, 2015). This period marked a significant shift in Fico's political discourse as he increasingly utilized populist and nationalist themes to trigger support and assert Slovakia's sovereignty within the European context. Fico's opposition to the EU's migrant quotas and his emphasis on preserving Slovakia's Christian identity contributed to a broader discourse that

portrayed the EU's migration policies as a threat to national sovereignty. Fico intentionally fostered concerns among Slovaks, suggesting that Brussels was imposing decisions that could undermine Slovakia's autonomy.

Assassination of investigative journalist

One of the most controversial scandals during Fico government was a murder of investigative journalist Jan Kuciak and his fiancé Martina Kušnírova in their house in 2018. Kuciak was following a mafia group and alleged ties to Slovakian top politicians. Police investigation resulted that the murder was most likely related to his work. The assassination escalated in a mass protest across the whole country. Slovak were demanding accountability and systemic change following the corruption of the highest politicians (Boffey, 2018). As a response to the protests, Fico resigned as a prime minister. However, Fico shifted the blame amid the chaos by claiming that foreigners were meddling in Slovakia's domestic issues. He explicitly accused George Soros, a Hungarian American philanthropist, of planning the overthrow of the Slovak government, an accusation that is similar to many Russian misinformation methods. A representative for Soros refuted these claims, stating that Soros was not involved in the political events in Slovakia. This event has shed a bad light on Fico and his political party, which resulted in his loss in the next government elections in 2020.

Fico's stance on Ukraine and pro-Russian discourse post-election

Following the onset of the invasion, Fico articulated a position that denounced Russia's military actions as a "gross violation of international law" while framing the conflict as a power struggle between the United States and Russia rather than a war involving Ukraine itself (Fico 1, 2023). Additionally, he emphasized Slovakia's non-involvement, stating that "Slovakia has no reason to feel threatened" and opposing actions that could escalate regional tensions, particularly criticizing then-President Zuzana Čaputová foreign policy decisions regarding military cooperation with the United States (ibid.).

A critical component of Fico's discourse has been his opposition to economic sanctions against Russia. He contends that such measures harm Slovakia more than Russia itself, aligning with narratives that question the effectiveness of Western policies. Citing British media articles, he

agrees that sanctions had failed, reinforcing claims that Western economic strategies disproportionately affected EU member states rather than undermining Russia's geopolitical position (Fedičová, 2022). This argument has been central to his broader political messaging, positioning himself as a defender of Slovakia's economic sovereignty against perceived external pressures.

Fico's discourse intensified during Slovakia's 2023 parliamentary elections, where his party, Smer-SD, campaigned on three fundamental principles regarding Ukraine: opposition to the prolongation of the conflict, a commitment to vetoing Ukraine's NATO membership, and the cessation of military aid to Ukraine (Biró, 2023). After assuming office, his government enacted policies to halt state-provided military assistance to Ukraine, though he later clarified that private Slovak arms manufacturers could continue exports independently. "If a company wants to produce weapons and supply them somewhere, of course, nobody will prevent that," he explained. This shift contradicted his pre-election claims that "not a single bullet" would be sent to Ukraine under his administration (HNonline, 2023).

Furthermore, Fico has consistently emphasized Slovakia's humanitarian role, advocating for aid in the form of medical supplies and winter survival equipment rather than weaponry. He has also sought to present Slovakia as a neutral actor, willing to facilitate peace negotiations rather than exacerbating hostilities (Fico 2, 2023). This positioning served to balance domestic political pressures with Slovakia's commitments as an EU and NATO member state.

Despite these diplomatic efforts, Fico's statements have frequently echoed narratives associated with Russian propaganda. In a press conference, he questioned, "Why should we adopt the rhetoric of the Western world at all times? Slovakia is a sovereign state that is historically linked to the nations that once formed the former Soviet Union." (Fico 3, 2023). This statement, alongside his skepticism toward media coverage of the war, aligned with a broader Euroskeptic and nationalist discourse that characterizes much of his political strategy.

Fico's engagement with Russian officials has further reinforced perceptions of a pro-Russian orientation. In a parliamentary speech, he acknowledged meeting with the Russian ambassador to Slovakia, "I was straightforward and told him that Russian Federation had breached international law but that does not mean I cannot meet with Russian diplomats and shake their hand." (Fico 4, 2023).

Speech by Robert Fico in 2024

On the 20th anniversary of Slovakia's accession to the European Union, Robert Fico delivered a televised address reflecting on the country's evolving role within the EU and its broader geopolitical context. A decade after presenting the EU as Slovakia's only viable path, Fico now positions the nation at a critical crossroads. During this time, Slovakia has faced significant challenges, including the rise of populist narratives, deep polarization among its citizens, and growing scepticism toward EU institutions from one segment of the population, while others call for Fico's resignation. At the same time, the European Union has been tested by major challenges such as the aftermath of Brexit and, most notably, the ongoing Ukraine conflict, which has intensified debates over energy security and migration policy.

Discursive practice

The speech was delivered on May 1, 2024, a day of dual significance in Slovakia, marking both the anniversary of the country's accession to the European Union and the celebration of Labor Day. To honor the 20th anniversary, the Slovak government organized a grand Gala Night, featuring a program that showcased a variety of artistic performances, culminating in the prestigious Alexander Dubček State Award ceremony. The evening took place in a colorful and elegant setting, blending cultural celebration and political thought.

Robert Fico's speech was delivered as a part of the evening's program. The event was attended by numerous prominent figures from Slovakia's political landscape, including current officials as well as notable former representatives, such as a former prime minister and a former president.

The venue is designed to convey a sense of significance and national pride. At the center of the stage, Fico stands as the focal point of the event. Behind him, a large orchestral ensemble is prominently positioned, adding a formal and ceremonial tone to the occasion. An illuminated electronic display is also present, with a statement "20 Years in the European Union,". The design incorporates the EU's star emblem, integrated with the Slovak flag within the star, symbolizing Slovakia's intertwined identity and journey within the European Union.

From integration to opposition

Fico's speech begins with a greeting to the entire nation of Slovakia and a wish for a wonderful May 1st evening. He also greets all the participants on the gala evening, referencing them as he expresses his intention to ask both active and former politicians to help him find the right words for his speech so as not to spoil the evening. He then continues by congratulating the Slovak Republic on May 1st.

"This is a national holiday, Labor Day, and I want to thank all employers for creating jobs, all Slovaks who are working, or those who are already enjoying their well-deserved rest, for the values they have created for this country." (YouTube, 2024 2024, 1:10).

Fico's speech begins with an inclusive greeting to all Slovaks, establishing his authority and presenting himself as a leader of all citizens. To further highlight his consideration for Slovakia, he humorously asks previous political leaders to help him with his speech. However, what stands out is his deliberate omission of any reference to the European Union, despite the gala night's primary purpose being the celebration of Slovakia's EU membership. Rather than acknowledging this milestone, Fico redirects attention to the working class and business owners, expressing gratitude for their contributions to the nation's success.

This shift in focus suggests a populist appeal, where he prioritizes a nationalist economic narrative over discussions of European integration. As Fairclough's approach to Critical Discourse Analysis emphasizes, wording is never neutral but plays a crucial role in shaping discourse and meaning. Here, Fico's deliberate use of positive and unifying language reflects a discursive strategy designed to foster national solidarity.

He continues by stating that it is expected of him to mention figures and statistics about how the EU has helped Slovakia. "I believe this is a two-sided relationship, but we can conclude that Slovakia's membership in the Union has helped it immensely." (YouTube, 2024 2024, 1:53). Fico's discourse serves as a reflection of his current political orientation and strategic intentions. While he acknowledges that Slovakia has gained from its EU membership, he simultaneously creates a sense of distance from the Union. He deliberately distance from providing information about positive aspects and frames it as being obligated to do so. Instead, he highlights that Slovakia is not only a beneficiary in this union, but also a contributor emphasizing that Slovakia

gives as much as receives. This rhetorical shift signals a discursive move toward a sovereignty-focused narrative, where Slovakia's role in the EU is no longer framed through the lens of reliance but rather as an equal partner.

He continues by recalling the years 2003 and 2004 to emphasize "what is missing in Slovak politics today, and that is consensus on fundamental issues." (YouTube, 2024 2024, 2:07). He references these years to highlight that, despite differing opinions in politics at the time, there was agreement that Slovakia belongs in the EU. He also notes, "I want to thank our ex-Prime Minister, Mikuláš Dzurinda, for his classic Slovak politics, because at present, it cannot be said that such classic politics exist anymore." (YouTube, 2024 2024, 3:02).

Fico frequently references historical dates in his discourse, and in this instance, he refers to the period when Slovakia was at a crossroads about joining the EU. He brings up this era to remind people that, at the time, he and other politicians unanimously agreed that EU membership was beneficial for Slovakia, appealing particularly to those who remember that period. Additionally, he expresses gratitude toward a former prime minister—whom he had previously criticized for implementing neoliberal reforms—using this acknowledgment as a populist strategy to evoke nostalgia among older voters and reinforce his image as Slovakia's protector. Ironically, Fico himself has often contributed to societal divisions through his polarizing rhetoric, which has caused ruptures among citizens with his offensive politics.

He continues with the statement, "I cannot fully agree that Slovakia's entry into the EU was some sort of return of Slovakia to Europe; after all, we were already in Europe." (YouTube, 2024 2024, 3:49). He asserts that there is a clear consensus regarding Slovakia's EU membership when it comes to continuing this membership, but that consensus ends there, as Fico holds a different view on the quality of future membership in this institution.

With his statement, Fico redefines membership in the EU as an economic and political relationship rather than a geographical and cultural fact, creating the idea that being part of the EU is a choice rather than a necessity. Fico presents Slovakia as an inherent part of the EU, independent of institutional membership. With this, Fico contests the old discourse and constructs a new one. As Fairclough argues, discourse is both constitutive and contested, and Fico's approach aligns with this theory.

Moreover, Fico's discourse reflects his broader shift toward Euroscepticism. Through this reframing, he subtly constructs the EU as a potential threat to Slovakia's sovereignty rather than a natural and beneficial alliance. He creates a discursive space where skepticism toward EU policies can be justified. Therefore, his statement is not just a revision of history but a strategic move to redefine Slovakia's role in Europe, reinforcing a nationalist and sovereignty-focused discourse that distances itself from unquestioned support for EU integration.

He returns to his earlier remark that Slovakia was already in Europe and emphasizes that Slovaks should take greater pride in themselves. He recalls King Svatopluk, a significant and respected figure in the European context. "If I say that we have been in Europe, please, let's be a little prouder of ourselves. Let's remember King Svatopluk, and I'm sorry that we didn't build his statue three times bigger." (YouTube, 2024 2024, 4:14) He also highlights important historical documents, such as the Zobor charters from 1111 and 1113, which confirmed the quality of life in the territory at that time. Furthermore, he mentions other notable figures but underscores the most important and significant individual, Alexander Dubček. (YouTube, 2024, 5:18)

Fico further reinforces his discourse strategy centered on national pride by emphasizing Slovakia's historical connection to Europe. With enthusiastic tone, he underscores Slovak national pride and references historical figures to strengthen his rhetorical appeal. His statement, "Let's be a little prouder of ourselves," serves as an appeal to nationalist sentiments in Slovakia, positioning his political stance as one of unwavering commitment to the nation. Through intertextual references, Fico invokes historical events and figures to legitimize his expressions of national pride and justify his political decisions. He emphasizes king Svatopluk, which he often mentions even in his other discourses and media appearances. Again, populistically mention his regretting comment about the statue of Svatopluk, which is displayed in the middle of Bratislava Castle, an important historical building and museum in the capitol of Slovakia. His final reference to Alexander Dubček adds another layer of political dimension to his discourse. Dubček is a pivotal figure in Slovak political history who played an important role in the Prague Spring, a period during which Czechoslovakia gradually moved toward a more liberalized socialist system. His advocacy for "socialism with a human face" became emblematic of reformist leadership and national dignity, further reinforcing Fico's ideological positioning.

"It wasn't just us who believed that integration into the EU was a completely natural step, given our presence in Europe. Let us recall the statement made by a German politician: 'Let us also look to the East. If we want Europe to be strong, let us look to the East and their rich historical traditions. We don't have to fear that they are culturally different or distinct from the West, they will not harm us." (YouTube, 2024, 5:57)

As outlined in our methodology, CDA emphasizes the role of language in shaping and reflecting social realities. In this statement, Robert Fico presents EU integration as a "completely natural step," employing a presupposition that membership in the EU was inevitable. Intertextually, he reinforces his previous assertion that Slovakia has historically and geographically been an integral part of Europe by referencing the words of a founding statesman of the European Union. By doing so, he constructs a position for himself that allows him to critique EU policies more freely, positioning Slovakia's membership as an inherent and unquestionable reality.

This discourse enables him to dissociate his criticisms from potential implications for Slovakia's standing within the EU, as he presents its membership as a natural and historically justified affiliation. Moreover, his statement "let us look to the East" may signal a broader geopolitical strategy, suggesting an intention to pursue a more diversified foreign policy. Following his most recent inauguration as Prime Minister, he has frequently emphasized that his administration will communicate with global actors beyond the European Union. He repeatedly asserts that Russia, China, and other international players should not be disregarded, advocating for a more inclusive approach to foreign relations, in which the EU itself should consider strengthening cooperation with these actors.

He once again returns to the point he made earlier, emphasizing that in Slovakia, there is consensus only on the question of EU membership, but it fades in other areas. "I see three areas where we should strive for consensus: the first is the return to Slovakia's prosperity, the second is respecting the traditions and roots upon which Slovakia stands, and the third is certainly the question of peace." (YouTube, 2024, 6:38).

He elaborates on the mentioned areas, explaining that by prosperity, he means coming together, regardless of whether we are left-wing or right-wing, opposition or government, and collectively agreeing on goals that extend beyond a single term in office and have lasting effects. He reminds

the audience that in many indicators, Slovakia is falling behind, even though it once held a better position than others.

"This is the greatest challenge for Slovakia: to mobilize all resources and prepare measures that will allow our country to make a comeback." (YouTube, 2024, 7:33).

Fico reiterates the lack of national consensus in Slovakia, identifying three key areas in which greater unity is needed. He elaborates on the economic dimension, constructing a vision of national cohesion that transcends political differences in pursuit of economic growth. Through this narrative, he positions himself as an inclusive leader committed to bridging political divides for the collective benefit of all citizens. Furthermore, he employs comparative analysis with other countries to emphasize Slovakia's relative decline, evoking a sense of nostalgia for a past era when Slovakia outperformed others. This rhetorical strategy reinforces the notion that the country has lost its former status, implicitly suggesting the need for corrective action.

Moving to other areas, he comments: "I cannot blame anyone for having different opinions on traditions and roots, nor can I blame anyone for having a different view on peace or war. Yes, there are quite diverse opinions on these matters here in Slovakia. I just want to pledge that we will respect what the Constitution says... and the Constitution states that Slovakia is a peaceful country." (YouTube, 2024, 8:18).

As previously noted, Fico has frequently employed a discourse that polarizes Slovak society, delineating citizens into two opposing groups: nationalists and liberals. Within this framework, liberals have often been portrayed as a threat to Slovak traditions. He has often adopted an aggressive rhetorical stance, particularly against minorities and the LGBTQ+ community, while also critiquing the European Union's support for what he labels as "liberal ideology," framing it as a danger to Slovak cultural values.

However, in a strategic shift, he now acknowledges Slovakia's ideological diversity. A particularly significant aspect of his discourse is his stance on peace, which directly relates to the ongoing conflict in Ukraine and its perception within Slovakia. Unlike the dominant EU narrative, which largely identifies Russia as the aggressor and Ukraine as the victim, Fico approaches the issue with notable caution. He frequently characterizes the war as a broader geopolitical struggle between the United States and Russia, positioning Ukraine as a subordinate

actor under U.S. influence. This perspective resonates strongly with more traditionally and conservatively inclined segments of Slovak society.

His rhetorical strategy is subtly embedded in statements such as "Yes, there are quite diverse opinions on these matters here in Slovakia," which serve to normalize ideological divergence on this issue. In an effort to depoliticize the topic, he refers to the Slovak Constitution as an authoritative reference, framing his position as an institutionally grounded reality rather than a politically motivated viewpoint.

He asks how future reforms within EU, how economic policy will develop, and what steps will be taken. He emphasizes that Slovakia, in his view, should actively engage, particularly in foreign policy. He highlights that the EU as a whole struggles to assert a unified and sovereign direction in its foreign policy, especially toward its ally, the United States. He points out that Slovakia and his generation of politicians have often expressed differing views, such as condemning the bombing of Yugoslavia or withdrawing troops from Iraq. He asserts that the EU should also aim to be more sovereign and independent in achieving its foreign policy objectives. "For now, we are merely watching helplessly at our close partner across the Atlantic, but we are unable to provide them with a sovereign and unified European foreign policy." (YouTube, 2024, 9:34)

In this section, Fico positions Slovakia as an assertive and sovereign actor by highlighting instances where the country diverged from U.S. foreign policy directives. He references the NATO intervention in Yugoslavia, which was framed in Western discourse as a humanitarian intervention but was perceived by many Slovak politicians, including Fico, as an act of Western aggression. Similarly, he underscores Slovakia's decision to withdraw its troops from Iraq, thereby rejecting U.S. military intervention. Through these examples, Fico implicitly advocates for greater European strategic autonomy, suggesting that the European Union should pursue independent foreign policy decisions rather than uncritically aligning with U.S. interests. From the CDA perspective, Fico is constructing Slovakian political identity, in which the country is more than a passive actor. Furthermore, he extends this argument to Slovakia's position within the EU, emphasizing the importance of critical engagement with EU policies rather than unquestioned compliance. This perspective is particularly evident in his stance on the Ukraine conflict, where he has openly criticized the EU's approach, including the sanctions on Russia. From a security perspective, Fico frames the absence of a unified and sovereign EU foreign

policy as a geopolitical vulnerability, warning that failure to assert independence could diminish the EU's global influence. Thus, he presents European sovereignty not only as a necessity but as a crucial factor in maintaining the EU's position within the international power structure.

Another topic he addresses is the ambitious plans of the European Union and what needs to be done with them. He mentions the advantages that the EU brings but expresses concern "Many people are afraid that EU might turn into a skanzem for tourists, losing its industrial advantages and competitiveness." (YouTube, 2024, 9:47). He notes that many regions are advancing, and Slovakia wants to be part of the discussions on whether it is even possible to implement the plans that the EU has presented. (YouTube, 2024, 10:17)

This statement reflects a skeptical perspective on the European Union's economic future. Fico employs the term skanzem, a Slovak word referring to a folk museum that preserves historical buildings, traditions, and art. By using this metaphor, he implies that the EU risks becoming an outdated relic rather than a dynamic global economic power. He positions himself against allowing Slovakia to be pulled into what he perceives as the EU's economic stagnation. Once again, he underscores the necessity of global cooperation, advocating for stronger engagement with international partners beyond the EU.

The final area is the right of veto. Fico claims he was surprised by the parliament's vote on this topic, which approved the introduction of qualified majority voting on essential matters. "If I am mistaken, please correct me, but as far as I know, there are still three areas where we vote unanimously: security, the budget, and foreign policy... ... imagine if the right of veto were abolished, and on essential issues, decisions would be made by a majority of countries at the expense of the smaller ones." (YouTube, 2024, 11:21)

Fico's emphasis on security, the budget, and foreign policy is significant, as these domains are among the most sensitive to national sovereignty. By highlighting these areas, he implicitly argues that transitioning to qualified majority voting in such matters would undermine Slovakia's ability to independently shape its policies. Moreover, his assertion that this shift would occur "at the expense of the smaller ones" suggests that the veto mechanism serves as a safeguard against power imbalances between larger and smaller states. In this framing, the loss of the veto is

presented as a direct threat to the autonomy of smaller nations, while granting disproportionate influence on more powerful member states. This discourse crates an atmosphere of fear, reinforcing the narrative that Brussels dictates in Slovakia, thereby limiting national agency. Such discourse tactics are often used by Fico, strategically employed to resonate with his Euroskeptic voter base by portraying EU decision-making as an encroachment on national sovereignty.

In conclusion, we arrive at the most fundamental issue, the question of peace. Fico states that Slovakia is a peace-loving country, and that the EU was established with the same purpose, as a peace project. "With all due respect, if we look at the project today, the EU is far from being a peace project." (YouTube, 2024, 12:18)

Fico openly questions the core principles on which the European Union was founded, expressing strong scepticism about its ability to uphold peace. Once again, he references the conflict in Ukraine, criticizing the EU's political approach to the war. He frames Slovakia in a positive light as a "peaceful country" while subtly suggesting that the EU, rather than fostering stability, is exacerbating the conflict and contributing to further destruction. Through this rhetoric, he portrays the EU as a threat to peace and indirectly implies that Slovakia would be better off distancing itself from its current trajectory. Fico concludes his speech with the words: "Long live Slovakia, long live the EU, may we prosper together." (YouTube, 2024, 14:13)

The shift in the discourse

In this section we will focus on the changes of Robert Fico's discourse on the European Union, comparing his 2014 interview with his 2024 speech. Fico's 2014 discourse was characterized by strong pro-European rhetoric, emphasizing Slovakia's deep integration into the EU, however his 2024 speech marks a significant departure, inclining toward Euroscepticism, nationalist undertones and an emphasis on sovereignty.

In the 2014, Fico's discourse is marked by a strong pro-European politician where he named Slovakia's EU membership as an extraordinary success story. He presented Slovakia's participation in the Union as the only viable path, stating that deeper EU integration was in the country's vital interest. At the same time, Fico actively countered skepticism toward EU policies, arguing that Slovakia had benefited the most among the countries that joined in the 2004 enlargement. By 2024, however, this advocacy of the EU had shifted into a more cautious, two-

sided framing. On one hand, Fico confirmed that EU membership had brought Slovakia advantages, on the other hand he also emphasized Slovakia's role as a contributor rather than a mere beneficiary. shift distances Slovakia from being framed as dependent on EU support and instead portrays the country as an equal partner in a transactional relationship. What is more, he implicitly mentioned that there are several topics, in which Slovakia does not follow EU current trajectory.

This brings another major change in Fico's discourse. In 2014, he strongly supported European integration, acknowledging that Slovakia had sacrificed some sovereignty in areas like monetary policy and border control. He even argued that these trade-offs were necessary and beneficial, framing them as strategic decisions that enhanced Slovakia's economic stability and geopolitical security. By 2024, he had changed this stance, and he portrays EU membership as a potential threat to national sovereignty. He stated that Slovakia's presence in Europe should not be defined by institutional membership, but rather by its historical and cultural belonging to the continent.

Economic discourse in Fico's speeches also underwent a notable transformation. In 2014, he strongly defended Slovakia's economic progress within the EU, countering public skepticism by emphasizing statistical improvements, such as a 70% increase in wages since accession. He dismissed negative media portrayals and misinformation about EU economic policies, asserting that Slovakia's economic success was largely due to EU integration. In 2024, he cast doubt on the EU's economic future, warning that Europe might turn into a "skanzem" losing its industrial competitiveness. He expressed concerns that EU economic policies were unrealistic, and that Slovakia should be cautious about fully aligning with them.

While in 2014, Fico respected the regional alliances, mainly the Visegrad Four, within the broader European framework, his 2024 discourse signals a broader geopolitical realignment. He now advocates for stronger engagement with non-EU actors, emphasizing that Slovakia should not be exclusively tied to Western alliances but should focus on all directions.

Another major shift is Fico's use of historical and cultural references. In 2014, he did not significantly invoke nationalist rhetoric, instead he focused on economic and political achievements within the EU framework. Although, at that period of time Fico often used historical references in many of his texts, strategically he did not use one when talking about EU to promote his Eurocentric visions. However, by 2024, he reframes Slovakia's European identity,

arguing that Slovakia has always been an integral part of Europe regardless of institutional membership. He reminds historical figures such as King Svatopluk and Alexander Dubček, reinforcing a nationalist narrative that portrays Slovakia as historically sovereign and independent from external control.

Discussion

Our findings reveal a significant shift in Robert Fico's political discourse over the course of a decade. By situating these changes within their broader political and socio-economic context, we can better understand the evolution of his rhetoric.

When Fico first became Prime Minister, Slovakia had already joined the EU and was preparing to adopt the euro. This period of economic growth and public satisfaction reinforced his pro-European stance. Aligning with national sentiment, he positioned himself as a pro-EU politician advocating for integration. His 2014 discourse reflected this, portraying Slovakia as an active participant in shaping European institutions.

Until 2015, Fico maintained his pro-European image, supporting EU reforms and regional alliances. However, during the 2015 refugee crisis, his stance shifted. Public resistance to migration and rising fears over terrorism fueled a nationalist turn in his rhetoric. He began criticizing EU policies, particularly migrant quotas, framing them as threats to Slovakia's sovereignty and cultural identity. This marked the beginning of his Euroskeptic narrative.

Following his 2018 resignation, Fico intensified his anti-EU rhetoric, attributing political influence in Slovakia to external actors like George Soros. As the Ukrainian conflict escalated, his discourse became more pro-Russian, portraying EU alignment as harmful to national interests. Our analysis of the speech reflects this shift, emphasizing nationalist values and distancing Slovakia from EU policies.

His shift in discourse has not only deepened polarization within Slovak society splitting it between pro-European and pro-Russian camps, but also secured his standing among pro-Russian supporters. He strengthened their loyalty as voters, presenting himself as a defender of Slovak values. Furthermore, his escalating criticism of the EU carries significant consequences for Slovakia's role within the union and could potentially jeopardize its membership. In sum, Fico's

changing discourse is not just a reflection of shifting political beliefs but a calculated response to domestic and international developments. His rhetoric has far-reaching consequences, influencing Slovakia's political landscape, its relationship with the EU, and the country's geopolitical positioning in an increasingly polarized Europe.

What makes Fico's political transformation significant? His ability to recalibrate his discourse is crucial because it reflects the evolving attitudes within Slovakia, both as a nation and as a member of the EU. Fico has always demonstrated a keen awareness of public sentiment, strategically adjusting his rhetoric to align with shifting societal and geopolitical dynamics. His shifting stance not only mirrors changing political realities but also serves as a strategic effort to both influence and align with the concerns of the Slovak electorate, securing his ongoing political relevance.

His changes are important because of the evolving context of Slovakia as a nation and as part of the EU alliance. Fico's political leadership in 2024 has taken a dramatic turn toward consolidating power for himself. Shortly after his appointment as Prime Minister in 2023, Fico made changes within law enforcement and amended criminal law. He also dissolved the Special Prosecutor's Office, an institution that investigated major corruption cases, and reduced sentences for corruption (Krempaská, 2024). What is more, Fico, as only the third Western representative of the EU, visited Vladimir Putin in Moscow in December 2024 to discuss gas prices (Bandouil, 2024).

These developments raise concerns about Slovakia's political trajectory under Fico's leadership. His positioning remains paradoxical, as Slovakia remains tied to EU structures, which advocate for unity against Russian influence. This raises the question of whether Fico's approach represents a genuine strategic realignment or a performative stance aimed at appealing to specific domestic audiences. Ultimately, his discourse balances between resisting EU pressures and maintaining Slovakia's geopolitical and economic interests, reinforcing the tension between national sovereignty and European integration in his political narrative.

Conclusion

Our thesis aimed to answer the research question: How has Robert Fico's discourse about the European Union shifted between 2014 and 2024?

To properly respond to the question, in our thesis we analyzed two key texts, Robert Fico's 2014 interview and his 2024 speech. The 2014 interview was selected to represent Fico's discourse at a time when he strongly advocated for Slovakia's European integration. In contrast, after a decade of political and geopolitical transformations, the 2024 speech reflects a more Eurosceptic and sovereignty-focused narrative.

Correspondingly, to contextualize the speeches and how they were influenced, we established historical and political events in two chapters. These chapters provided us with an overview of Slovakia's relationship with the European Union and the political actions of Robert Fico, beginning with accession in 2004, the economic transition and Euro adoption and the shifting of the political landscape under Fico's leadership. Key events such as the 2015 refugee crisis, the assassination of journalist Ján Kuciak in 2018, and Fico's political comeback in 2023 were examined as well.

Through Critical Discourse Analysis and Securitization theory, we identified several key shifts in Fico's rhetoric. CDA allowed for a textual and contextual examination of Fico's speeches in 2014 and 2024, highlighting how his language, argumentation, and framing of key issues evolved over time while Securitization Theory examined how his discourse shaped and reinforced the perception of security threats.

After delving into these two critical speeches, we can conclude his political views have shifted. In 2014, he framed Slovakia's membership in the EU as an extraordinary success, emphasizing the economic benefits, stability, and strategic necessity of deeper integration. As exemplified by his strong statement about the European Union being the only viable path for Slovakia's future development. He also openly dismissed any concerns about sovereignty losses and securitized non-membership as a risk to economic and political stability. In other terms, his discourse at this stage aligned with pro-European narratives, portraying Slovakia as a committed and reliable EU member. By contrast, in 2024, Fico's discourse had transformed significantly. While he acknowledged that Slovakia had gained from EU membership, he distanced himself from unconditional support for European integration. It can be seen his speech was marked by nationalist undertones, historical references, and an emphasis on sovereignty, positioning

Slovakia as an independent actor rather than a dependent beneficiary of EU policies. His discourse further securitized EU influence, portraying Brussels as a potential threat to national sovereignty, peace, economic autonomy, and political decision-making.. In 2014, he strongly advocated for deeper EU integration and cooperation among the Visegrad Four group, whereas in 2024, his agenda was marked by political tensions for collaboration with "all sides of the world," not exclusively with EU and western powers, evidently inclining towards pro-Russian rhetoric.

In conclusion, this thesis has demonstrated that political discourse is highly dynamic, evolving in response to shifting geopolitical, political, and economic conditions. Fico's rhetorical transformation between 2014 and 2024 reflects not only Slovakia's changing relationship with the European Union but also broader shifts in regional political narratives. His discourse demonstrates how political leaders strategically alter their messaging to maintain relevance and legitimacy in fluctuating political landscapes. Fico has repositioned Slovakia within an increasingly polarized global order by securitizing EU influence and placing great importance on sovereignty. This study underscored the role of discourse as an active force in shaping national and international policy orientations. Future research could further investigate how such rhetorical shifts translate into concrete policy changes, what other influences these transformations aside from national securitization, and whether similar patterns emerge among other political actors in Slovakia and the broader Visegrad region.

References

Antal, H. (2023). What distinguishes Slovak populism from the Western European variants? Slovakia in comparison with Austria. Studia Politica Slovaca, 16(1), 30–47. https://doi.org/10.31577/SPS.2023-1.3

Bandouil, S. (2024, December 22). *Slovak PM Robert Fico meets with Putin in Moscow. The Kyiv Independent*. https://kyivindependent.com/slovak-pm-robert-fico-meets-with-putin-in-moscow/

Bertelsmann Stiftung. (2012). *BTI 2012 — Slovakia country report*. Bertelsmann Stiftung. https://bti-project.org/fileadmin/api/content/en/downloads/reports/country_report_2012_SVK.pdf

Biró, Marek. (2023, September 22). Voľby 2023: Michal Šimečka a Robert Fico prezradili, v čom nemienia ustúpiť. Aktuality.sk. Retrieved from: Voľby 2023: Michal Šimečka a Robert Fico prezradili, v čom nemienia ustúpiť | Aktuality.sk

Boffey, D. (2018, March 9). *Death of investigative journalist sparks mass protests in Slovakia*. *The Guardian*. https://www.theguardian.com/world/2018/mar/09/death-of-investigative-journalist-sparks-mass-protests-in-slovakia

Buzan B, Hansen L. *The Evolution of International Security Studies*. Cambridge University Press; 2009.

Dandashly, A., & Verdun, A. (2015). Boarding the euro plane: Euro adoption in the Czech Republic and Slovakia. *Review of European and Russian Affairs*, 9(2). https://www.academia.edu/20375425/BOARDING THE EURO PLANE EURO ADOPTION IN THE CZECH REPUBLIC AND SLOVAKIA

Dulebova, Irina & Štefančík, Radoslav. (2017). Securitization theory of the Copenhagen school from the perspective of discourse analysis and political linguistics. XLinguae. 10. 51-62. 10.18355/XL.2017.10.02.05.

Fairclough, N. (1992). Discourse and social change. Polity Press.

Fedičová, Gabriela. (2022, August 1). Robert Fico: Slovensko je mesiace kŕmené klamstvami o vojne na Ukrajine. Hlavnydennik.sk. Retrieved from: Robert Fico: Slovensko je mesiace kŕmené klamstvami o vojne na Ukrajine | Hlavný Denník

Fico, R. 1 (2022, February 24). Stanovisko strany SMER - SD k aktuálnej situácii na Ukrajine. Facebook. Retireved from: https://fb.watch/xHoFIT7VV4/

Fico, R. 2 (2023, October 27). Mám vlastný názor a budem ho hovoriť po slovensky, po anglicky, doma, v Bruseli, kdekoľvek. Facebook. Retrieved from: https://fb.watch/xHoDE9HA7-/

Fico, R. 3 (2023, September 23). Čím viac zahraničných novinárov na nás pošlete, tým pevnejší budeme vo svojich postojoch a názoroch. Facebook. Retrieved from: https://fb.watch/xHp4Kz5Lrh/

Fico, R. 4 (2023, December 7). PÁN VEĽVYSLANEC USA, PROSÍM ZDRŽTE SA PODOBNÝCH VYJADRENÍ. Facebook. Retrieved from: https://fb.watch/xHpunfSC-U/

HNonline. (2023, November 6). Fico prvýkrát vyjadril postoj ku kľúčovej oblasti v pomoci Ukrajine, Kyjev si môže vydýchnuť. Retrieved from: <u>HNonline.sk - Fico uvádza Kaliňáka do</u> funkcie

Jakša, U. (2023). Euroscepticism. In: Romaniuk, S.N., Marton, P.N. (eds) The Palgrave Encyclopedia of Global Security Studies. Palgrave Macmillan, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-74319-6 203

Jørgensen, M., & Phillips, L. J. (2002). *Discourse analysis as theory and method*. SAGE Publications Ltd, https://doi.org/10.4135/9781849208871

Krempaská, B. (2024, November 15). *On the path to illiberal democracy?* Friedrich Naumann Foundation for Freedom. https://www.freiheit.org/central-europe-and-baltic-states/path-illiberal-democracy

Marušiak, J. (2021). Slovak, not Brussels social democracy: Europeanization/De-Europeanization and the ideological development of Smer-SD before 2020 parliamentary elections in Slovakia. Politologický časopis - Czech Journal of Political Science, 1(2021), 37–58. https://www.ceeol.com/search/article-detail?id=932368

McSweeney, B.: Identity and Security: Buzan and the Copenhagen School. Review of International Studies. 22 (1996)

Online Tu a Teraz. (2024, May 1). Prejav Roberta Fica počas galavečera k 20. výročiu vstupu Slovenska do $E\acute{U}$. [Video]. YouTube.

https://www.YouTube.com/watch?v=Nkw1yH5zo8M

Radio and Television of Slovakia. (2014, May 1). Interview with Robert Fico and Mikuláš Dzurinda: 10th anniversary of Slovakia's EU membership [Video]. RTVS. https://www.rtvs.sk/televizia/archiv/6443/37737#0

Rear, D. (2013). Laclau and Mouffe's Discourse Theory and Fairclough's Critical Discourse Analysis: An Introduction and Comparison. Available at: www.academia.edu/2912341/Laclau and Mouffe s

Discourse_Theory_and_Faircloughs_Critical_Discourse_Analysis_An_Introduction_and_Comparison

Robert Schuman Foundation. (2012). Smer-SD, led by Robert Fico, wins an absolute majority in the Slovak parliamentary elections. Retrieved from https://www.robert-schuman.eu/en/observatoire/1284

Rooduijn, M., & van Kessel, S. (2019). Populism and Euroscepticism in the European Union. In Oxford Encyclopedia of European Union Politics. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190228637.013.1045 Schmidt, V. A., & Radaelli, C. M. (2004). Policy changes and discourse in Europe: Conceptual and methodological issues. *West European Politics*, *27*(2), 183–210. https://doi.org/10.1080/0140238042000214874

Spáč, Peter, Populism in Slovakia (2012). Published as "Slovakia" in Havlík, V., Pinková, A. et al. (2012): Populist Political Parties in East Central Europe. Brno: Munipress, pp. 227-258., Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=2773568

Stępka, M. (2022). The Copenhagen School and Beyond. A Closer Look at Securitisation Theory. In: Identifying Security Logics in the EU Policy Discourse. IMISCOE Research Series. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-93035-6_2

Stritzel, H. (2007). Towards a theory of securitization: Copenhagen and beyond. *European Journal of International Relations*, *13*(3), 357-383,449. Retrieved from https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/towards-theory-securitization-copenhagen-beyond/docview/211957712/se-2

Terece, S. Ö. (2015, August 19). *Slovakia refuses entry of Muslim migrants*. *Daily Sabah*. https://www.dailysabah.com/europe/2015/08/19/slovakia-refuses-entry-of-muslim-migrants

Tódová, M. (2015, September 7). *Kiska a Fico o utečencoch: dva rôzne svety*. Denník N. https://dennikn.sk/234453/kiska-fico-utecencoch-dva-rozne-svety/

Vpeniaze.sk. (2009). *Euro na Slovensku*. Retrieved January 4, 2025, from https://www.vpeniaze.sk/euro-na-slovensku/?utm source=chatgpt.com